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TO:  All Bidders 

 

FROM: City of Cambridge 

 

DATE:  October 24, 2019 

 

RE: File No. 8827 Curbside Collection of Recycling and Yard Waste 2020-2025 - Addendum 

No. 2 

This addendum is comprised of: 

1. Bidder’s Questions 

2. Pre-Bid Meeting Sign-in Sheet 

 

1. Answers to Questions: 

1. Q Will the City accept a fuel adjustment formula?  
Answer: No 

 
 

2. Will the City accept extra pickup charges for dumpster service requested outside of the agreed 

upon schedule?  If not, how many extra pickups are currently requested beyond the agreed 

upon schedule? 

Answer: No, the City won’t accept extra pickup charges. Currently, approximately ten extra 

dumpster pickups are requested per year. We do not expect this number to change 

significantly, but it may increase above 10. 

 
3. Page 2: INDEMNITY: Would the City accept a mutual fault-based indemnification? 

Answer: No 
 

4. Page 2: TERMINATION OF CONTRACT states: “Except as otherwise provided in the Articles of 
Agreement, the City may terminate the contract upon seven days’ notice.” 
a. Could the City clarify if this clause would be for due cause or at will?  

Answer: This allows the City to terminate for any reason upon seven days’ notice; no cause 
is needed. 

b. Would the City consider amending to read “for due cause”?  
Answer:  No. This is our standard contract language. 



 

 

 
 

5. Page 7: 1-D Insurance Requirements states: “The city reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to 

amend the insurance requirements set forth above.” Would the City consider amending this to 

mutually negotiate any amendments to the insurance requirements with the Contractor? 

Answer:  No. This is our standard contract language.   

 

6. Page 8: 1-J Termination on Default states: “the offending party shall have 15 days to cure such 

breach.” Could the City please clarify this in light the language on Page 2 which states: City may 

terminate the contract upon seven days’ notice”? 

Answer:  There are fifteen days to cure a breach.  The seven-day termination language is 

separate, it allows the City to terminate outside of a breach scenario for any reason.  This is 

our standard contract language.  

 
7. Could the City please clarify the incentive program? On page 9: 2-A Billing and Payment it 

states: Four monthly invoices will include an incentive Payment based on an amount computed 

by the City and given to the contractor.”  If the incentive is paid by the City to the Contractor, 

why would the contractor invoice the City? Also, on page 51, on the pricing proposal form, it 

lists the $9,000 annual incentive payment as a charge for which the Contractor would bill the 

City.  Could you please clarify? 

Answer: The $9,000 annual payment is listed as a place holder on the bid form in order to 

calculate the Not-to-Exceed (NTE) total value of the contract that the City would sign with the 

winning bidder. The City will communicate the incentive to be paid out to each employee of 

the contractor responsible for collection in Cambridge on a quarterly basis. This incentive 

payment is calculated according to Attachment 9. After paying out the incentives the 

Contractor will bill the City for these payments.  

 

8. On Page 9: 2-A Billing and Payments: regarding container mishandling: How much has the City 

charged the Contractor for mishandling?  As many of the City carts are getting older and possibly 

no longer covered under manufacturer’s warranty, how does the city propose to determine 

instances of mishandling vs age/end-of-life related failures? It sounds like 50% of broken toters 

would be charged back to hauler. How do you make that determination?  

Have you charged back the contractor for any broken toters? 

Answer: City has not charged Contractor anything for container mishandling. We are aware of 

the ages of the toters. The intention of this clause is to hold the Contractor accountable for 

intentional mishandling and damages to the City’s property. The City would only assess for 

damages beyond reasonable wear and tear. 

 
9. On Page 9: 2-A Billing and Payment states: “The City shall deduct from its payment to the 

Contractor any excess processing or disposal fee charged to the City by the processor for 

any contaminated load rejected due to mechanical failure or driver error in operating the 

truck during dumping”. Could the City clarify what type of situations are contemplated by 

this language? Has the City charged for this situation in the past and if so, how often? 

Answer: Example: if operator breaks hydraulic line and hydraulic fluid contaminates the 

load. City has not previously charged Contractor for this situation. 

 
 

 



 

 

10. On Page 10: City reserves the right to change routes or schedules… would the City agree to 

modify this to “At the City’s request, the contractor and the City agree to negotiate in good faith 

to change routes or schedules.” The concern is that the City could mandate that all collection 

be performed in one day and the Contractor would have no recourse in the face of this onerous 

change. 

Answer:  No. City trash, recycling, yard waste and curbside organics are all collected according 

to the same schedule per neighborhood. The City reserves the right to make changes to 

schedules if it were in our best interests to do so, for example, for route efficiency. We don’t 

expect any significant changes to the schedule in this contract.  

 
11. On Page 11: 3-A Community profile & Route Information it states: “The Business Recycling 

Program is expected to expand upon commencement of this contract to up to 250 businesses for 
twice per week collection, estimated to generate about 600 tons per year.  The City currently 
contracts with a private service to collect business recycling twice per week from approximately 
123 businesses at 106 locations.” 

a. Commencing with the new contract, will the City no longer contract for these 

services privately? 

Answer: Correct 

b. Will these be included in the curbside collection contract? 
Answer: Yes 

c. Will any of these locations require dumpsters or contractor provided carts? 
Answer: Not anticipated at this time.  

d. Is 250 the absolute limit allowed by the City? If not, will the City allow the contractor 

to charge for any businesses over the 250 described in this section?  

Answer: Not an absolute limit, but we do not expect the number to go beyond 250. 

Please note that the 250 or so small business sites represent a very small percentage 

of the overall number of pickup sites in the contract. 

 
12. On Page 11, 3-B: What is the process for agreeing on service times in commercial zones? Have 

there been objections on the part of the City to allow the contractor to service commercial zones 
from 4am – 7am? 
Answer: Any businesses in commercial zones are permitted to be picked up before 7am, 
contingent upon City approval. Out of the approximately 100 commercial customers that are 
picked up before 7am the City received one complaint related to early pickup and required 
Contractor to switch to a later pickup; that business was right next door to a residential area, 
zoned for residential use.  

 

 

13. In the tonnage information does that include the business tonnage? 

Answer: No, current tonnage information shared in Appendix 1 does not include business 

tonnage. Estimates for business tonnage are located in section 3-A.  

 

14. Is it a private contractor that is doing the business recycling now? 

Answer: Yes 

 

15. Where does business recycling go currently? 

Answer: The Contractor responsible for collecting the recycling owns the recycling and takes it 

to a MRF of their choosing.  

  



 

 

 

16. Do you collect from the businesses that are in that day’s collection route? 

Answer: Yes, some businesses are currently collected on the same day as that area’s 

residential collection. The schedule for collecting the businesses in the program will be 

communicated to the Contractor by October 1, 2020.  

 

17. Do businesses get twice per week collection? 

Answer: Yes, they have the option of twice per week collection, but many opt not to have 

twice per week collection.  

 
18. If a Legal Holiday falls on a Saturday, what day does the City observe the Holiday? What about if 

the Holiday falls on a Sunday? 
Answer: If a legal holiday is on a Saturday, collection will not be delayed before or after the 
Holiday; collection will take place as planned. If a legal holiday is on a Sunday, the City may 
observe the Holiday on Monday. The Contractor is expected to stay in communication with 
the City regarding plans to delay collection for that week if the Holiday is on a Sunday. 

 

 

19. How many days has the City cancelled trash/recycling collection due to weather in each of the 
past few years? 
Answer: Collection has been canceled 4 times in the last 4 years. 
 

20. What is the current rate of contamination? 
Answer: Contamination is approximately 6%, down from an average of 11% in Spring 2018. 
The decrease was a result of an extensive public outreach and education by the City and staff 
as well as cooperation from the current contractor, and we expect that partnership and 
cooperation to continue. 

 

 
21. How many notices of contamination or improperly prepared materials are reported to the city 

each week?  

Answer: About 15 per week. 

 
22. How much has the City charged the Contractor for contaminated recycling in the past two 

years? 

Answer: $0, but City reserves the right to charge contractor in the future.  

 
23. On page 14: 3-K Communications it states: “The Contractor shall provide DPW with two cellular 

smartphones and shall pay all associated fees for the life of the contract.” 

a. What is the purpose of providing these smartphones? 
Answer: Communication between City staff in office and in the field and Contractor’s 
Supervisor. 

b. Is the intention of the City to communicate directly with the drivers, the supervisor or 

both? 

Answer: Supervisor 

c. Is the City aware that USDOT Regulations prohibit operators of vehicles requiring a CDL 
to use a hand-held cell phone while driving? 
Answer: Yes. 

 

  



 

 

24. How often do employees of the current contractor attend City-offered workshops. 
Answer: Contractor has not attended any City-offered workshops under this contract, but City 
encourages contractor to attend any workshops/trainings conducted by City Staff. 
 

25. On page 17 3-N it states: that the Contract may not affix any other sign to vehicles without City’s 
approval.  Is the Contractor’s vehicle permitted to display the Contractor’s branding? 
Answer: Current vendor has company name on the doors and Cambridge Recycling name 
along the body of the packer. Contractor must request approval of specific signage. 

 

 
26. Is the Contractor responsible for purchasing any toters? 

Answer: No 
 

 
27. Page 22: 6-D Composting of Materials: Would the City consider amending the language to allow 

the contractor to only take title of acceptable compost with no visible and/or discoverable 

contaminates? 

Answer: We refer you back to Section 3-H, which states, 

“…For yard waste, the Contractor shall reject improperly prepared 

yard waste (i.e. yard waste in plastic bags) and items that aren’t 

accepted for yard waste collection… (Christmas) trees must be free 

of decorations, stands, and plastic bags for collection by the 

Contractor.  

Contaminated materials may be left in the container, temporarily 

removed and returned to the containers, or placed in an adjacent 

trash barrel if appropriate. Under no circumstance shall materials 

be left on the sidewalk. The Contractor must leave a Contractor-

provided notice of rejection on or in the container (or on the 

rejected material), clearly identifying the reason for rejection. The 

rejection notice must not be placed on the recycling label.” 

 

28. Page 45: Attachment 12: Liquidated Damages: A States: “Failure to immediately clean-up major 

spill during collection in or outside the City as a result of a truck failure to contain recyclables or 

yard waste.” Could the City provide examples of situations where this item would be applicable 

inside and outside the city? 

Answer: An example would be if the hopper doesn’t close properly and materials are blowing 

or spilling off the truck. 

 
29. How many loads have been rejected at the recycling facility? 

Answer: Zero 
 

 
30. How many instances and/or what was the total dollar amount of liquidated damages charged by 

the city over the past 12 months? 

Answer: Zero 

 

31. Could the city please describe any value-added services currently provided by the current 
Contractor? 
Answer: Currently none. We encourage bidders to be creative and describe offerings on the 
bid form, particularly as they relate to reducing contamination. In addition, alternative fueled 
collection vehicles (CNG, hybrid, electric) would be considered a value-added service. 

 



 

 

32. The City requested bidders submit their training program in the bid submission. What level of 
detail are you looking for? The entire manual for training, or would a description suffice? 
Answer: A thorough description of the Contractor’s training programs and the type of 
programs is sufficient.  

 

33. Where is the compost currently being processed? 
Answer: Contractor is taking yard waste to Landscape Express in Woburn. Specifications allow 
for sites selected by the contractor as long as they are properly permitted to accept yard 
waste for composting.  

 

 
34. When does the current contract with the recycling processor expire? 

Answer: October 24, 2020. 
 

35. What number of trucks and what style of trucks are used to collect recycling? 
Answer: Contractor currently uses five 25-yard, rear-load, dual-axle vehicles. Additionally, the 
Contractor uses one 8 or 10-yard rear-load truck for more difficult locations for collection.  

 

 

36. What number of trucks and what style of trucks are used to collect yard waste? Does current 
hauler use just 1 truck for YW throughout the year? 
Answer: Contractor currently uses one 25-yard, rear-load dual-axle vehicle. Most of the time, 
the current Contractor uses just 1 vehicle for yard waste collection, but the Contractor may 
increase the quantity of trucks during peak yard waste collection season. 
 

37. Has the City exhausted their options to do side-loading for collection? 
Answer: The City has no opinion about how collection is done by the Contractor. The City 
defers to the Contractor to find the best way to complete the requirements of the contract.  
 

38. Is there one person or two on the truck in the current contract?  
Answer: Contractor regularly employs one person per truck, but sometimes two people on a 
truck are employed. This applies to both recycling and yard waste vehicles.  
 

39. On page 16: 3-N Vehicles Required it states: “All recycling and yard waste collection vehicles 
must be no more than 5 years old at any time during the contract.” 

a. Does this also apply to spare vehicles which may be used in the City when front-line 
trucks are being repaired? 
Answer: Section 3-N of the specifications reads,” Any vehicle used temporarily to 
replace a vehicle under repair must meet the same vehicle specifications 
required in this section unless expressly approved by the City.” 

b. Does this apply when yard waste volumes are at peak levels and may dictate the 
utilization of additional vehicles to stay on schedule? 
Answer: Section 3-N of the specifications reads,” Any vehicle used temporarily to 
replace a vehicle under repair must meet the same vehicle specifications required in 
this section unless expressly approved by the City.” 

 

40. Can the supervisor be a driver? Is supervisor in alley cat doing deliveries, etc? 

Answer: No, the supervisor can’t drive one of the regular, full curbside collection routes. The 

specifications for the supervisors’ role can be found in Section 3-I, 3-J, 3-K, and 3-L.  

 

41. One of the trucks must be able to empty dumpsters, right?  

Answer: Correct. For dumpster schedule see Attachment 6.  

 



 

 

42. Who is current contractor? 

Answer: FW Russell and Sons Disposal, Inc. and Langton and Douglas Contracting, Inc. 

 
43. The bid specifications mention that there are 57 buildings serviced by private haulers.  Are these 

57 multifamily buildings included in the 44,650 homes mentioned as being included in the 
contract? 
Answer: These buildings are not currently serviced by the City. If they decided to switch to City 
service and meet all of our requirements regarding storage, containers, sidewalk accessibility, 
etc., they could potentially be added, although we don’t believe that is likely to occur.  

 
44. How often does the current contractor finish after 4pm? What time are routes finishing now? Is 

there any particular day that is long? Would you say all are done at 2pm every day? 
Answer: All routes on all days are finished collecting in Cambridge before 3pm, with very few 

exceptions, if any exceptions. On average, all routes are finished collecting before 2pm. The 

longest routes are the Monday and Tuesday collection routes. 

45. How do residents reach out with requests/complaints? Are residents in habit of calling the city? 

Is that the way you want it to stay? Do residents call the contractor? 

Answer: Residents call the City or report online through the SeeClickFix portal. The Contractor 

will not be receiving calls from the City’s residents for service-related issues. See Sections 3-G, 

3-K, and 4-A for more info.  

 

46. Do you have trash truck drivers that also drive snow plows? 

Answer: Yes, the City’s trash truck drivers also drive plows for snow events.  

 

47. When does City’s curbside recycling processing contract end? 

Answer: October 24, 2020 

 

48. When it comes to rejections, is it at the Contractor’s driver’s discretion? 

Answer: Yes, please refer to Sections 3-H, 4-A, and 5-A.  

 

49. Do you guys have people out on the street monitoring curbside recycling?  

Answer: The City may occasionally have staff monitoring curbside recycling.  

 

50. What is the percentage that don’t have City-provided toters? 

Answer: Very minimal amount of homes use non-City provided receptacles for collecting. 

Aside from loose cardboard, less than 5% of receptacles are non-City provided toters on 

wheels. See Section 5-B for more info.  

 

51. How much cardboard is stacked next to carts?  

Answer: On any given weekday, many households will set-out cardboard for collection outside 

of the City-provided carts. Most businesses in the program will set-out cardboard outside of 

the carts. 

 

52. I see barrels in your community that have a red recycle sticker. What are those? 

Answer: Non-City provided yard waste barrels have red stickers that say “Yard Waste Only” 

  



 

 

 

53. Any breakdown requirement for cardboard? 

Answer: No. 

 

54. In attachment 6 it says contractor does not provide dumpsters at 3 locations. Does the city own 

them? 

Answer: No, the Cambridge Housing Authority owns the dumpsters at the 3 locations where 

the Contractor doesn’t supply the dumpsters. 

 

55. For Newtowne Court, in attachment 6: Does the words “6 compacting” mean there are 6 

compacting 2-yd dumpsters? 

Answer: Yes, and the same applies for Manning Apartments; there are 2 compacting 2-yd 

dumpsters, and Woodrow Wilson Court; there are 4 non-compacting 2-yd dumpsters.  

 

56. Will you read the bids aloud? 

Answer: Yes, at bid opening on 10/31/19 at 11am at Purchasing Office.  

 

57. Was this pre-bid meeting mandatory? 

Answer: No 

 

58. Are the questions discussed here going to be on the web site? Will you be emailing the 

questions and answers as an addendum? 

Answer: Yes, questions and answers will be posted on the City of Cambridge Purchasing 

website. No, the City will not be emailing out the question and answers. 

 

59. Is bid bond required? 

Answer: No. 

 

60. Page 1 States: “The submitted bid must be without conditions, exceptions or modifications to 

the bid document.”  However, it is this contractor’s experience that the normal business 

practice of entering into contract with a municipality involves a degree of negotiations that may 

result in clarifications or modifications to any still unclarified or unresolved matters.  After the 

submittal of the bid, would the City be willing to engage in this process prior to entering into a 

contract? 

Answer:  As the contract is exempt from MGL c.30B, the City might consider such if it were in 

the best interests of the City 

 

61. What type of truck does the current contractor use to deliver toters? 

Answer: The current contractor uses the fleet for the City’s curbside recycling or yard waste 

collection contract to deliver toters.  

 

62. On Page 21 Section 5-C, it states: “City staff will coordinate the removal and replacement of the 

damaged toter.”   

a. Does this mean that the contractor is only responsible for toter deliveries and that the 

City removes / repairs all damaged toters?  



 

 

Answer: The Contractor will be required to collect broken toters for recycling at the 

direction of the City. The Contractor will also be responsible for delivering a new toter 

if directed by the City.  

b.  If the contractor is responsible for removing/ repairing toters could the City provide an 

estimate of how many?   

Answer: The Contractor is not responsible for repairing toters. The Contractor will be 

responsible for removing broken toters when requested by the City. The City 

estimates the Contractor will remove 3-5 broken toters per week.  

c. Is this already included in the 20 deliveries mentioned in this section? 

Answer: Removing toters is not included in the allocation of deliveries. Toters are 

recyclable (see Section 5-A) and upon request should be removed and delivered to the 

processing facility. 

 

63. Page 13 Section 3-F Snow and Ice Policy: Our company has a firm commitment to the safety of 

our employees as well as the general public.  Remaining true to this commitment, there have 

been times when we have determined that it would be unsafe to operate due to poor road 

conditions resulting from Winter weather events.  It would seem that there have been more 

days in the recent past where we have not operated due to Winter weather than the City of 

Cambridge.  Please note, a contractor located outside of Cambridge may experience different 

conditions than the conditions in the City (both at the contractor’s location and along the route 

to Cambridge).  In the event of an award, would the City honor this contractor’s commitment to 

safety should we deem it unsafe to operate?  Would the City agree a decision made mutually to 

operate or not operate in the event of a Winter storm?   

Answer: We would address this with the contractor on a case by case basis.   

 

64. Page 25 Attachment 2: 

a. Could the City provide the number (even if it is approximate) of the number of toters 

and hampers at each municipal building? 

Answer: See Attachment 1 below 

b. Could the city provide a picture or description of a “hamper”? 

Answer: See Attachment 2 below 

 

65. Page 27 Attachment 3: Could the City provide the number (even if it is approximate) of the 

number of toters and hampers at each private school? 

Answer: See Attachment 1 below 

 

66. Can residents choose to have more than one toter?  If so, how many residents do this? 

Answer:  

• Yes, residents can choose to have more than one toter; we do not have the exact number. 

• Due to space constraints, buildings with three or fewer households are likely to have a 

single 95-gallon toter, although many have more than one. 

• Buildings with four or more units are likely to have multiple toters. 

• Section 5-B, Attachments 2, 3 and 7 in the bid specifications and the table attached below 

provide additional information.  

 

  



67. Would the City be amicable to extend the bid due date by one week? 
Answer: Yes. The City has extended the bid due date to October 31, 2019 at 11:00 a.m. per 
Addendum #1. 

68. Could we obtain a copy of the current collection contract? 
Answer: Please submit a public records request for any current and past contracts desired. 
The request can be submitted via email to: slevy@cambridgema.gov 

69. Could we also obtain a copy of the current small business collection contract? 
Answer: Please submit a public records request for any current and past contracts desired. 
The request can be submitted via email to: slevy@cambridgema.gov 

70. Quality Requirements on Page 47, Question 8- Will the City reserve the right to waive one or 
more of the Quality Requirements, if it is Deemed to be in the City's best interest? 
Answer: No, the City will not the waive the Quality Requirements. The City does consider 
contracts serving college/university housing to meet the definition of residential curbside 
collection. 

71. Does the estimated Yard Waste listed in the bid included Christmas Tree volumes? If not, is 
there an estimated number of tons or yards of Christmas Trees collected yearly? 
Answer: No, Christmas Trees aren't included in the yard waste tonnage. The anticipated 
tonnage for Christmas Trees is 45 tons per year. 

72. If the service provider were to consider using Natural Gas Vehicles could they propose two 
pricing structures, one with Natural Gas and one with Diesel Vehicles? 
Answer: Yes 

73. In Article IX on page 69: Bonding companies will need something in the agreement or 

amended spec, which will state the bond requirement will be an annual 

requirement. As written now it indicates contract amount of the value of the bid. Will 

this change? 

Answer: The Bond requirement will be based on the Annual Value of the Contract. 

2. Pre-Bid Meeting Sign-in Sheet: 

Please see the attached (Attachment #3) Pre-Bid meeting Sign in Sheet. 

e same. 

Addendum No. 2 



 

 

ATTACHMENT #1:  
Toter count and hamper count at schools and City buildings. 

 

Street 
Number Street Name Building Name Building Type 

# of 
Toters 

# of 
Hampers 

44 
Linnaean 
Street 

Graham & Parks Alternative 
School Public School 10   

2029 
Massachusetts 
Avenue Fire Station, Engine 4 City 3   

70 
Rindge 
Avenue O'Neill Library City 3   

70 
Rindge 
Avenue 

Peabody School/Rindge Avenue 
Upper Campus (RAUC/RAUS) Public School 29 2 

70-R 
Rindge 
Avenue Gately Youth Center City 2   

99 
Sherman 
Street Danehy Park / Salt Shed City 14   

64 
Aberdeen 
Avenue Collins Branch Library City 8   

245 
Concord 
Avenue Boudreau Branch Library City 1   

76 
Coolidge 
Avenue Cemetery City 1   

110 Cushing Street Haggerty School Public School 8 2 

250 
Fresh Pond 
Parkway Water Department City 6   

113 Garden Street Fire Station, Engine 8 City 2   

680 Huron Avenue 
VFW (688) & West Cambridge 
Youth Center (680) City 7   

691 Huron Avenue Golf Course Clubhouse City 1   

167 
Lexington 
Avenue Fire Station, Engine 9 City 1  

100 Smith Place Cambridge Emergency Mgt City 1   

144 Smith Place 
temp location for Fire 
Headquarters City 4   

67 Smith Place Maintenance Shop City 1   

197 Vassal Lane 

Tobin / Tobin Montessori 
School / Vassal Lane Upper 
School / VLUS Public School 14   

344 Broadway City Hall Annex (McCusker) City 8   

359 Broadway 
former Longfellow Bldg. High 
School Extension Public School 9 2 

449 Broadway Main Library City 31   

454-
456 Broadway 

RSTA & CPS (456) Facilities 
Office Public School 2   

459 Broadway 
CRLS - Cambridge Rindge and 
Latin Public School 66   

491 Broadway Fire Headquarters City 5   



 

 

51 Inman Street Coffon Building City 6   

831 
Massachusetts 
Avenue Lombardi Building City 10   

100 
Putnam 
Avenue 

ML King and Putnam Ave Upper 
Schl (PAUS) Public School 16  

28 
Sacramento 
Street Baldwin School Public School 17  

175 
Cambridge 
Street Fire Station, Engine 3 City 2   

826 
Cambridge 
Street Valente Library City 2   

850 
Cambridge 
Street 

King Open School / Cambridge 
Street Upper School / CSUS Public School 15   

1384 
Cambridge 
Street Fire Station, Engine 5 City 1   

89 Elm Street Cambridgeport School Public School 20   

55 First Street Parking Garage City 1   

147 
Hampshire 
Street Public Works (DPW) City 10   

795 
Massachusetts 
Avenue City Hall City 10   

125 Sixth Street Cambridge Police Station HQ City 32   

48 Sixth Street O'Connell Branch Library City 1   

158 Spring Street 

Kennedy-Longfellow School / 
Cambridge Street Upper School 
/ CSUS Public School 15   

35 Third Street Electrical Department City 1   

159 
Thorndike 
Street 

School Administration / School 
Department City 14   

61 Willow Street Frisoli Youth Center City 4   

225 
Windsor 
Street 

Fletcher Maynard Academy 
(FMA) Public School 10 2 

12 Gilmore Street Moore Youth Center City 3   

40 Granite Street Morse School Public School 9   

260 Green Street Parking Garage City 0   

243 Harvard Street 
Moses Youth Center & 
Childrens of Cambridge City 9   

378-
380 

Massachusetts 
Avenue 

Fire Station, Engine 2 / 
Lafayette Fire Station City 2   

806 
Massachusetts 
Avenue Senior Center / Windsor House City 13   

45 Pearl Street Central Square Library City 5   

176 River Street Fire Station, Engine 6 City 1   

15 Upton Street Amigos School Public School 16   

5 
Western 
Avenue   City 16   

119 
Windsor 
Street 

CHA Windsor Street Health 
Center City 6   



 

 

5 Cadbury Road Cambridge Friends School 
Private 
School 8   

2180 
Massachusetts 
Avenue Capucine Montessori School 

Private 
School 1   

1 
Matignon 
Road Matignon High School 

Private 
School 12   

45 
Matignon 
Road International School of Boston 

Private 
School 8   

21 
Notre Dame 
Avenue 

Benjamin Banneker Charter 
Public School 

Private 
School 15   

129 
Sherman 
Street Cambridge Montessori School 

Private 
School 3   

96 
Sherman 
Street Cambridge Montessori School 

Private 
School 2   

765 
Concord 
Avenue Fayerweather Street School 

Private 
School 10   

96 
Concord 
Avenue St. Peter Elementary School 

Private 
School 4   

117 Cushing Street Parents Nursery School 
Private 
School 2   

161 Garden Street Cambridge Montessori School 
Private 
School 4   

6 
Manassas 
Avenue   

Private 
School 3   

8-10 
Saint John's 
Road   

Private 
School 3   

24 A Farwell Place Garden Nursery 
Private 
School 4   

245 Bent Street 
Community Charter School of 
Cambridge 

Private 
School 9   

65R 
Chestnut 
Street 

Cambridgeport Children's 
Center 

Private 
School 2   

50-54 Essex Street 
Prospect Hill Academy Charter 
School 

Private 
School 12   

71 Pearl Street James Farr Academy 
Private 
School 1   

 

  



 

 

ATTACHMENT #2: 
Picture of hamper 

 



 

 

ATTACHMENT #3: 
Pre-Bid Meeting Sign-in Sheet 

 


